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1. Name of Property

historicname Oak Hill

other names/site number __VDHR #024-0087

2.Location

street & number 181 Oak Hill Road not for publication N/A
city a town Cumberland vicinity
gate Virginia code VA __ county__ Cumberland code ___049 Zip 23040

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the Naticnal Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this
__ X nomination ___ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering
propertiesin theNational Register of Historic Placesand meetsthe procedural and professional requirements set forthin
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recommend thet this property be considered significant _ nationally — statewide X localy. ( _ See
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for additional comments.)
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State or Federal agency and bureau
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[, hereby certify that this properly 1s: ___other {explain):

. entered in the National Register
See contitmation sheet.

__ determinedeligible for the Signature of Keeper
National Register
___ See continuation sheet. Dateof Action
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5. Classification

Owner ship of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)
____ private
____public-local
_X_ public-State
____ public-Federa

Category of Property (Check only one box)
_X_ building(s)
___ district
___dite
___ structure
___ Object

Number of Resourceswithin Property

Contributing Noncontributing

4 1  buildings
1 0 sites

0 0 structures
0 0 objects
5 1 Tota

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: Domestic Sub: Single Dwelling

Agriculture/Subsistence

Funerary Cemetery

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: Domestic Sub: Institutional Housing

L andscape Forest

Funerary Cemetery
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7. Description
Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
EARLY REPUBLIC:Federa

M aterials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation BRICK
roof METAL :Steel
walls WOOD

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

8. Statement of Significance
Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for
National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or islikely to yield information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

A owned by ardigiousinstitution or used for religious purposes.

B removed fromitsorigina location.

C abhirthplace or agrave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object or structure.

F acommemorative property.

G lessthan 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.
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Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Architecture
Conservation
Period of Significance ca 1810-1955

Significant Dates_ca.1810
1936
1954
Significant Person (Completeif Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
Previous documentation on file (NPS)
____preliminary determination of individua listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.
___previoudly listed in the National Register
____previoudly determined eligible by the National Register
___designated a National Historic Landmark
___recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
__recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
Primary Location of Additional Data
_X_ State Historic Preservation Office
____ Other State agency
___ Federal agency
___ Local government
___ University
___ Other
Name of repository:

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of Property __ Approximately 14 acres

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
1 2

3 4
X See continuation sheet.
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Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nametitle: Debra A. McClane, Architectural Historian

Organization: date May 2, 2005
street & number: 4711 Devonshire Road telephone_804/233-3890

city or town Richmond state VA_ zip code 23225

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Complete thisitem at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)
name Commonweadlth of Virginia, Department of Forestry

street & number__ 900 Natural Resources Drive telephone__434.977.6555

city or town__ Charlottesville state VA_Zip code _ 22903

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: Thisinformation is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Placesto nominate
propertiesfor listing or determineeligibility for listing, tolist properties, and to amend existing listings. Responseto thisrequest isrequired to obtaina
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for thisformis estimated to average 18.1 hours per responseincluding thetimefor reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and compl eting and reviewing the form. Direct commentsregarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.0. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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7. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Oak Hill, located within the boundaries of the Cumberland State Forest, is atwo-story, three-bay,
frame dwelling that was constructed in Cumberland County, Virginia around 1810 by plantation
owner William Mynn Thornton (1781-1856). The house is a good example of Federal-style
architecture and illustrates the tastes of the planter class during the early to mid-nineteenth century.
Oak Hill exhibits Federal-style influence in its center-passage, single-pile floor plan, and in such
details as a seven-pane fanlight above the entrance door, moulded door and window mouldings,
ornamental scroll stair brackets, and carved mantles. The interior of the dwelling remains
remarkably intact with only minor changes for modern usage (e.g., bathrooms, heating). The one-
story, gable-roofed ell at the rear of the dwelling was added during the early twentieth century (ca.
1940) and replaced an earlier ell that is believed to have burned.! Outbuildings on the property
include atobacco/hay barn and atenant dwelling that has been converted for use as agranary/crib
that both appear to date to the late nineteenth century. Also on the property are a frame barn,
probably dating to the early twentieth century, and a frame shed that dates to the late twentieth
century. A small family cemetery islocated northeast of the dwelling and contains the tombstone of
infant Charles Irving Thornton, son of Anthony and Mary Thornton, who died in 1842. The
tombstone, the inscription of which is attributed to English author Charles Dickens, has been listed
on the National Register. Oak Hill retainsahigh level of integrity with regard to location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

In 1936, the land on which Oak Hill stands was acquired by the United States of Americathrough
the Resettlement Administration under the Bankhead-Jones Tenant Farm Act--an act that was
supervised by the U.S. Secretary of Agriculture and that wasintended to develop aprogram of land
conservation and utilization in order to correct maladjustments in land use and thus assist in such
things as control of soil erosion, reforestation, preservation of natural resources and protection of
fishand wildlife.? The 15,396.59 acres acquired for the“ Cumberland Project, LA-VA-4,” including
Tract 1 on which Oak Hill stood, was leased to the Commonwealth of Virginia's Conservation
Commission in 1939 and then conveyed by deed to the Department of Conservation and Economic
Development in 1954. Since that time, Oak Hill has been rented to employees who are either
working at the state forest or for other state agencies.®
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The property retains its rural setting and is surrounded by open fields and forest. The property
containsfour contributing buildings, one contributing site, and one non-contributing building. The
National Register property boundaries encompass the historic dwelling and the areaimmediately
surrounding the dwelling, the old roadbed toward the cemetery site and the cemetery site, and the
area containing the tobacco/hay barn and granary building.

Inventory

Contributing resources.

Single dwelling, ca. 1810 Contributing building
Bank barn, ca. 1930 Contributing building

Tobacco barn/hay barn, ca. 1890 Contributing building
Tenant dwelling/granary, ca. 1890  Contributing building
Cemetery, ca. 1842 Contributing site
(The Charles Irving Thornton tombstone located in the cemetery previously was listed in the
Virginia Landmarks Register and the National Register.)

Non-contributing resources.
Shed, ca. 1960 Non-contributing building

Site Description

Oak Hill, located on Oak Hill Road off of Route 629, which traversesthe Cumberland Sate Forest, is
accessed by a long, unpaved drive that encircles the house. The dwelling sits on a rise that
overlooks the Willis River to the west. The setting is rural and open fields are located to the
northwest and northeast. The house faces east back towards Oak Hill Road. A fence encirclesthe
immediate yard and the outbuildings located behind the house. The tobacco barn, granary, and
cemetery are located east of the house and are accessed by a farm road (to Oak Hill Lake) that
divergesfrom the main drive prior to entering the house area. The cemetery, located at the edge of a
woods|ocated west of thelane, isheavily overgrown, but isaccessible by awell-worn pathway. An
earthen berm encircles the burial area and remnants of a post and wire fence are apparent.

Some large boxwoodsthat werelocated at the front of the dwelling and several largetrees have been
removed from the yard around the dwelling. Several large trees, however, are still standing and
together with the outbuildings, fields, and forest, help to retain the historical feeling of Oak Hill asa
working farm.
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Detailed Description

Exterior

Oak Hill is a two-story, three-bay, frame dwelling that is set on a brick foundation, clad with
weatherboard and aluminum siding, and covered by aside-facing gableroof of standing-seam metal.
The roof features a boxed cornice with pedimented ends, perhaps a later modification, that are
broken by the stack of the exterior brick chimneys located at either end of the dwelling. Both
chimneys are laid in a Flemish bond pattern with stepped bases, stepped shoulders, and corbelled
caps. Concrete footings have been added to the bases of the chimneys. The three-bay front (east)
facade features a centrally located, one-story, three-bay entrance porch that is covered by ametal-
clad, front-facing gableroof that is supported by square chamfered posts. Wooden brackets between
the posts are punched with a star motif. The porch, which is set on a brick foundation (running
bond) with aconcrete dab floor, appearsto be alate-nineteenth- or early-twentieth-century addition.
The brick foundation of the houseislaid in Flemish bond with Queen’s closures.

The front entrance leading from the porch consists of a wide eight-panel, single-leaf door with a
seven-pane fanlight above within a rectangular transom. The door is notable due to its width and
may have been adouble-leaf door that wasjoined for use asasingle door. The exterior aluminum
storm doors are double-leaf. Flush board siding islocated to either side of the doorway within the
frame of the porch. Thewindow openings on the front facade hold six-over-six, wooden sasheswith
thin muntins, simple wooden surrounds, and wooden sills.

Theend elevations of the single-pile house feature elongated four-over-four wood sash windowsthat
flank the exterior chimneys at the first-floor level. No windows are present on the second-floor
level. Therear (west) elevation features symmetrically arranged openings on both levelsthat hold
six-over-six wooden sash windows. An entrance into the partial basement islocated in an entrance
well at the northwest corner of the dwelling.

A one-story, frame, gable-roofed ell iscentrally located at the rear (west) of thedwelling. Theell is
set on a brick foundation (running bond), is clad with aluminum siding (over original beaded
weatherboard), and is covered by astanding seam metal-clad roof. A brick stoveflueislocated on
the northeast end of the roof ridge. Openings hold wooden six-over-six windows on the north, west,
and south sides of theell. A small four-over-four window islocated on the north side of theell. An
entranceinto the ell, flanked by two-pane sidelights, islocated on the south side. An entrance, also
below grade in an entrance well, into the basement (furnace room) beneath the ell is located at the
northwest corner of the wing.

Section _7 Page 4
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Asmentioned, alterationsto the exterior of the dwelling includetheinstallation of aluminum siding,
gutters and downspouts, and the addition of concrete footers at the base of the exterior end
chimneys. Aluminum storm windows and doors have been installed on the exterior, aswell. The
rear ell and the front porch do not date from the original period of construction for the house, but do
appear to be of historic age (i.e., over 50 yearsold). The one-story rear gable-roofed ell was added to
the dwelling around 1940 and replaced an earlier ell. A 1936 survey of Oak Hill, produced as part of
the Works Progress Administration’ s (WPA) VirginiaHistorical Inventory, stated that the earlier ell
was built prior to the three-bay section of the house. However, ell additions are typical of I-form
farmhouses and the present addition is sympathetic to the original dwelling in materials, character,
and proportions. The front porch is most likely alate nineteenth century construction and reflects
vernacular detailing in the use of chamfered posts and a punched star motif used in the brackets.

Interior

The interior of Oak Hill is a center-passage, single-pile plan with arear, gable-roofed ell addition,
which is accessed on the interior via a door at the west end of the center passage. Federal-style
decorationsin the broad passageway include the wide baseboard moulding, the moulded chair rail,
and the moulded door trim. Another moulding has been added along the north wall, similar to a
picture rail, but does not appear to be original. Walls are of plaster and flooring appears to be
original pine. Doorsinto the parlor (northwest) and the chamber (southeast) are eight-panel, single
leaf types. All doors appear to have their original hardware. Stairsto the second floor are located
on the south side of the passage and are accessed from the east side.

The parlor, theroom located north (right) of the center passage, featuresafireplace, centrally located
on the exterior end wall, that is flanked by tall four-over-four window openings, the sills of which
rest on the room'’s chair rail. Six-over-six windows are located on the west and east walls. The
fireplace features ahighly decorative mantle consisting of amoulded shelf and fluted pilasters that
support atripartite frieze topped by aband of reeding. Thefireplace opening hasbeen reworked and
contains modern bricks. The hearth also has been replaced with apolished concrete hearth, ashave
the hearthsin all rooms. The plaster walls of the parlor are decorated with awide baseboard and a
moulded chair rail.

The chamber, located on the south side (I eft) of the center passage, can be accessed from two doors
in the passage (one at the east end and one at the west end, behind the staircase). Thisroom, much
like the parlor, features a centrally located fireplace on the exterior end wall that is flanked by tall
four-over-four windows. Six-over-six windows arelocated on the east and west walls. The mantle
Section _7 Page 5




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places OAK HILL
Continuation Sheet Cumberland, Virginia

in this room, which is less ornate than the parlor mantle, consists of a ssmple shelf above aplain
frieze supported by pilasters that feature a bowed shaft. The plaster walls are decorated with wide
baseboards and a chair rail. A closet has been added to the southeastern corner of the room.

The elegant staircase, located in the passage, features aturned newel post and rectangular bal usters.
The switchback stair featuresalanding that crosses along therear (western) wall. Notable details of
the stair include the paneled sidewall facing the center passage, the carved scroll decorations on the
stair stringers, and pendantsthat hang from the landing newels. A wide baseboard and chair rail are
located on the wall going up the stairs, aswell as on the landing wall.

The second floor consists of two bed chambers, one on either side of the central transverse hallway.
A bathroom has been added on the east side of the hallway. The chambers mirror each other in
layout and areidentical with regard to decoration. Doorsinto the chambersare six-panel, singleleaf
types. A fireplace is located on the exterior end wall of the rooms and six-over-six wood sash
windows are located on the west and east walls. Mantlesin the rooms are identical and feature a
moulded shelf above aplain friezethat issupported by fluted pilasters. Thefireplace openingshave
been boarded over. The plaster walls are decorated with a wide baseboard and chair rail and
window and door openings feature moulded surrounds. In the north room, a closet has been built
into the southwestern corner of the room and in the south room, a closet has been built into the
northwestern corner of the room.

Therear ell is accessed on the interior from a centrally located door on the rear (west) wall of the
center passage. The opening leads into an enclosed entry space that appears to have been an open
porch originally. Here the original weatherboard of the house has been left uncovered, as has the
beaded weatherboard of the east wall of the ell addition. A small bathroom, possibly once astorage
room or “cooling room,” islocated on the north side of the former porch area. On the other side of
the entry spaceisthe kitchen—asingle space featuring windows on the north, south, and west walls.
The plaster walls are decorated with amoulded chair rail and baseboard. Thefloor iscovered with
vinyl sheeting and the celling has been replastered. A stoveflueislocated ontheeast wall, butisno
longer in use.

Alterations to the interior of Oak Hill are minimal. The original floor plan appears largely intact
with the minor exception of built-in closets in the three chambers. Central heating and air
conditioning have been added to the house and most of the vents are sensitively sited within the
roomswith no loss of any significant spaces. Wall paper has been installed in the north chamber on
Section _7 Page 6
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from the early twentieth century.

Secondary Resources

Two outbuildings, a bank barn and a shed/garage, are located west of and behind the house. The
three-bay, one-and-a-half-story bank barn, of post and beam construction, is clad with horizontal
weatherboards and is set on a high brick basement that islaid in five-course American bond. The
side-facing gable roof is clad with date shingles. On the front (east) side of the upper level, there
aretwo plank doorsand asix-over-six sashwindow. A small hayloft opening iscentrally located on
this side of the barn, but alarger hay loft opening islocated on the north end. A six-over-six sash
window is located on this end of the barn, as well as on the south end.

A threshing floor is located on the north end of the main level of the barn. A corn crib, enclosed
with wooden slats covered with wire, islocated in the southwest corner of thefirst floor. A flight of
stairs, centrally located in the barn, leads to the lower floor which was remodeled in the 1970s for
useasastable.* Prior tothis, thelower level was used to shelter cattle. Thehayloftisaccessed by a
built-in ladder located above the stairs. The barn appearsto date from the early twentieth century
and is a contributing resource to the Oak Hill property.

A frame shed, built during the late twentieth century, islocated in front of (east) the bank barn. This
one-story, three-bay building, covered by a shed roof covered with asphalt paper, is clad with
vertical wooden boards, and holdsthree sets of barn-type doorsonthefront. Theinteriorisasingle
space with an earthen floor. At present, the building isused for equipment storage and as agarage.
Two additional bays, located on the north end of the building, have been removed athough the
concrete foundation is still extant. The shed is a non-contributing resource on the property.

Agricultural outbuildings are located east/northeast of the dwelling along an unpaved farm road
leading to Oak Hill Lake. The tobacco barn, built during the late nineteenth century, has been
modified for use asahay barn and for tractor storage. Thetall, original gable-roofed section of the
barn has been surrounded on three sides by a lower gable roof. On the interior, some of the logs
used for hanging tobacco to dry are still visible, although aloft floor has been added for hay storage.
Thispart of the barn was built on afieldstone foundation. The barnwith itsagricultural association
is a contributing resource to the Oak Hill property.
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A one-and-a-half-story, framebuilding islocated north of the barn aong thefarm road |eading to the
lake. Thebuilding hasbeen modified for use asagranary, but architectural evidence suggeststhat it
may have been atenant dwelling at onetime. Ghost lines of a chimney are apparent on the south
end of the building and a brick scatter was noted at the site. The exterior is clad with horizontal
siding, the building is set on afieldstone foundation, and is covered by a side-facing gable roof of
crimped metal sheeting. The west side of the building has an entrance door with a loft opening
above. Theinterior, though much altered, retains wooden flooring. A rear door has been added to
the east side of the building. This building, probably built in the late nineteenth century, is a
contributing resource to the Oak Hill property.

The Oak Hill Cemetery, located northeast of the house, lies at the edge of a stand of woods. A
raised earthen berm with the remnants of a post and wire fence encircles the burial area, whichis
overgrownwithivy, periwinkle, cedars, and boxwood trees, and contains four graveswith engraved
markers and one grave with fieldstone markers. Most likely, there are unmarked graves in the
cemetery. Themost elaborate of these stonesisthe onefor infant CharlesIrving Thornton, grandson
of William Thornton, builder of Oak Hill, and son of Anthony and Mary |I. Thornton. The
inscription on this tombstone, written in 1842, has been attributed to Charles Dickens. The
tombstone has been listed in the National Register. Other gravesinclude aflat sarcophagus tablet
for Lucy Allen, 1822-1847; Eliza Allen, born and died 1847; and an obelisk for “Little Kate,” the
dates of which are not legible. The cemetery is a contributing resource to the Oak Hill property.”

Non-extant outbuildingsinclude asmall frame shed formerly located southeast of the garage behind
the dwelling. This shed, recorded on the property as late as 1994, was a one-story, single space
building that was clad with vertical board siding and was covered by a metal-clad gable roof. The
building may have dated to ca. 1960.° Another framebuilding is believed to have stood northwest of
the dwelling along an old roadbed within an open field. The building is not recorded on the 1936
WPA report for Oak Hill, but a former resident reports finding a brick scatter in the area. The
function 7of the building is not known. Given its location, it may have been a barn or a grain
building.

ENDNOTES

1. Stanley “Stan” Warner, former Assistant Superintendent of State Forests and former resident of Oak Hill (1967-
1978), April 4, 2005. Personal Communication.

2. “Bankhead-Jones Farm Tenant Act (7 USC 1000, 1006, 1010-1012; 50 Stat. 522) asamended -- Section 31 of the Act
of July 22, 1937,” Digest of Federal Resource Laws of Interest to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Page.
Online. Internet. March 31, 2005. Available http://laws.fws.gov/lawsdigest/bankjon.html.
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Oak Hill, the Cumberland County home built by William Mynn Thornton (1781-1856), is a two-
story, single-pile, frame dwelling that was constructed around 1810 and exhibits characteristics of
the Federal style of architecture. Since 1936, the land on which Oak Hill islocated has been part of
the Cumberland State Forest and has been under the ownership of the Commonwealth of Virginia
since 1954. William Thornton was a native of Hanover County and afarmer most of hislife. He
built this dwelling for hisfamily and after his death, the house passed to hiswife and then to two of
their sons. The property was held by thefamily until 1876 when it was sold by decree of achancery
suit involving Thornton’s estate. From the turn of the twentieth century until 1936, the property
passed through many owners, several of which did not reside at the house. In 1936, the
Resettlement Administration of the federal government acquired the property under the Bankhead-
Jones Tenant Farm Act, which was an act supervised by the U.S. Secretary of Agriculture that was
intended to develop aprogram of land conservation. Theland in thisareaof Cumberland, which had
been farmed since the eighteenth century, had been heavily depleted and was severely eroded dueto
poor agricultural practicesincluding the continual cultivation of tobacco. Theland acquired for the
“Cumberland Project, LA-VA-4,” including Tract 1 on which Oak Hill stood, was conveyed to the
Commonwealth of Virginiain 1954. Since that time, Oak Hill has been used as housing for state
forest employees and other employees of the state.

Criteria

Oak Hill is significant under National Register Criterion C as a building that embodies the
distinctive characteristics of the Federal style of architecture. Though no builder or architect has
been associated with the design for Oak Hill, the house modestly emulatesthe hallmarks of the style
that was current throughout the United States during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries. The assumed date of construction for Oak Hill coincides closely with William Thornton’s
marriage to Elizabeth Anderson (1788-1828) in 1804. In 1805, John Thornton, William's father
who lived in Hanover County, conveyed to his son 600 acres on the Willis River. A construction
date of around 1810 appears appropriate based on architectural evidence as well as written
documentation (e.g., land tax records, insurancerecords). The National Register property includesa
small family cemetery that contains the grave of one of Thornton’ sgrandchildren and other graves.

Oak Hill is aso significant under National Register Criterion A for its contribution to the broad
patterns of Cumberland County history and Virginia history in the areas of agriculture and
conservation for its role in the establishment and continued management of the Cumberland State
Forest. During thefirst half of the nineteenth century, Thornton’s Oak Hill plantation, along with
his Section _8 Page 10
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adjacent Southall plantation, wasamajor producer of tobacco, corn, and other marketable products.
As a productive plantation of the early and mid-nineteenth century, Oak Hill played an important
role in Cumberland County’s significant agricultural history, which continues to be a dominant
economic pursuit in the county. In the twentieth century, the property became important as one of
several tractsincluded in the federal government’ s purchases that in 1954 became the Cumberland
State Forest. Today, the forest is part of the Commonwealth’s reforestation and conservation
program operated by the Department of Forestry. Oak Hill has served as housing for state
employeesworking at the state forest in various capacities. The house has aso been rented to state
employees working for other agencies, but has remained in the ownership of the Department of
Forestry. Oak Hill is one of only afew dwellings in the Cumberland State Forest that have been
used in this capacity. Trenton, located northeast of Oak Hill, is another early-nineteenth century
dwelling that was used by the state forest agency for housing and offices.

The Oak Hill property issignificant onalocal level inthe areaof architecture asan example of early
nineteenth century Federal style architecture in Cumberland County that retains a high level of
overal integrity. Thebuilding continuesto serveitsoriginal function asasinglefamily dwelling and
it retains sufficient character to convey itshistorical appearance and use. Oak Hill isalso significant
on alocal level in the areaof conservation for itsrolein the establishment of the Cumberland State
Forest. Theidentified period of significance for Oak Hill is ca. 1810 to 1955.

While ahandful of known archaeol ogical sitesarelocated within the boundaries of the Cumberland
State Forest, no systematic archaeological investigation has been undertaken within the forest or at
Oak Hill. Given the rural nature of the area, the agricultural use of the land through the early
twentieth century, and the program of conservation of theland begun in the early twentieth century,
it seemslikely that intact historical deposits may befound within the vicinity of the house and extant
farm buildings. For this reason, should archaeological survey be undertaken within the National
Register property boundaries or within the historical boundaries of the Oak Hill tract and
archaeological sites are located that contain intact, dateable deposits that relate to the identified
period of significance, then these sites should be considered potentially eligible for the National
Register under Criterion D as a contributing component to the property as they may contain
information important to one of the associated historic contexts. With the size and high productivity
of Thornton’s farm, numerous outbuildings and agriculturally related buildings would have been
necessary. The archaeological remains of these buildings, including slave quarters, detached
kitchens, spring houses, smokehouses, dairies, corn cribs, tobacco barns, hay barns, and icehouses,
may still exist on the property.

Section _8 Page 11
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Historical Background

Historic Property Ownership

William Mynn Thornton (1781-1856) was a native of Hanover County. In the late eighteenth
century, his father, John Thornton, owned over 1500 acres in Hanover County.? In 1776, John
Thornton purchased 600 acres in Cumberland County along “Willis Creek” from Archibald Cary
that had previously been apart of alarger tract of land owned by Alexander Speirs.® Although he
owned land in Cumberland, John Thornton retained his residence in Hanover. He and his wife,
Sarah Doswell, are believed to be buried in an unmarked cemetery on Fork Church Road in
Hanover.™® William Thornton graduated from Hampden-Sydney College, where hellater served asa
trustee (1830-1844), and he served one term in the Virginia House of Delegates (1847)."

In 1808, John Thornton and hiswife conveyed to William M. Thornton, their son, the same tract of
land that Thornton had purchased of Cary in 1776. Landowners adjacent to the parcel at that time
were named Deane, Bosher, Guthrey (also, Guthery), and Baskerville. The WillisRiver waslisted
as another boundary.® According to land records for Cumberland County, however, William
Thornton had been paying taxes on this 600-acre parcel since 1805, which in previous years had
been listed in the tax books under John Thornton’s name.** William Thornton married Elizabeth
Anderson (1788-1828) of Cumberland County on October 25, 1804, and it may have been that the
new coupletook up residence in the bride’ shome county on property owned by the groom'’ sfather.
According to the 1936 WPA report on Oak Hill, the original rear ell (replaced ca. 1940) was built
prior to the three-bay front section of the house. Perhapsthe couplelived inthe smaller wing while
the larger house was constructed. Land tax records are not conclusive in providing an accurate
construction date, but Mutual Assurance policiesshow that in 1812 Thornton secured insurance for
two frame buildings at Oak Hill, both of which were listed as dwellings. One building was
measured 28 by 16 feet with abrick cellar, while the other was 16 by 18 feet.* Both were covered
with wood shake roofs. Most likely, this represents the dwelling house and a detached kitchen
perhaps with aloft. Property taxes for Thornton’s holdings also increased significantly in 1812.
The 1810 federal census of Cumberland County recorded that Thornton owned 20 slaves at the
time—anumber than impliesthat Thornton was beginning to undertake seriousfarming on hisland.
Compared with other farmersin the area, as athen-middling planter, Thornton appearsto have held
an average number of slavesat that time.'® Given written evidence, aswell asarchitectural evidence
at Oak Hill, it seems likely that the dwelling was completed between 1810 and 1812.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places OAK HILL
Continuation Sheet Cumberland, Virginia
Section _8 Page 12

Throughout the early part of the nineteenth century, William Thornton added to his landholdings,
often purchasing parcels adjacent to land he already held. In 1835, Thornton purchased the George
Southall estate, located on both sides of the Willis River and totaling 630 acres. By 1839, Thornton
owned over 2,600 acresin the area.’®

As indicated through census records and other documentation, William Thornton became a very
successful farmer. The 1850 agricultural census gives an ideaof the type and size of production of
his plantations. At the time, Thornton held 1,500 acres of improved, or cultivated, land and 1,000
acres unimproved land, probably forest or unarable land. The cash value of hisfarm was $40,000
with a $400 value listed for farm implements. According to the census records, the value of
Thornton’s real estate and personal property placed him among the wealthiest of Cumberland
County residents along with such county land owners as William A. Cocke, and Peyton and
Randolph Harrison. The census also recorded that Thornton owned numerous head of livestock
valued at $5,010 including 16 horses, 16 mules, 20 milk cows, 18 oxen, 34 cows (other than milk),
100 sheep, and 150 swine. The major crops produced on Thornton's farm for the year 1850 were
2,700 bushels of wheat; 3,733 bushels of Indian corn; 100 bushels of oats; and 70,000 pounds of
tobacco. Only Stephen W. Trent’s plantation produced as much tobacco that year in Cumberland
County.*” Thornton’s land also produced eight tons of hay that year. Potatoes and peas were also
grown and butter and wool also were produced. Thiscensusrecord givesavery full picture of the
productivity of Thornton’s property just before hisdeath in 1856. It also suggeststhe size and type
of agricultural buildings that would have been needed on such an active farm including barns,
storage buildings, and slave quarters.® The 1850 federal population census recorded the William
Thornton household with Mary, histhird wife, and three children, Richard, Maria, and William M.
Listed asafarmer, Thornton’ sreal estateisvalued at $45,000 and Richard, also listed asafarmer, is
listed with his own real estate valued at $10,000."

Thornton died on May 16, 1856 and his death, the cause of which wasrecorded as* derangement of
digestive organs,” was reported to Cumberland County officials by hisson, John T. Thornton. An
obituary for Thornton printed in the Richmond Whig and Public Adviser on May 27, 1856, recalled
that Thornton initially pursued the occupation of merchant prior to becoming “an extensive and
successful planter.” The paper noted that it was only through “ strong solicitation” that he agreed to
serve one term in the state legislature.

Despite hislarge estate, no written will was found in the Cumberland County recordsfor Thornton,
but later transactions indicate that his real estate holdings were |eft in part to his wife as a dower.
Section _8 Page 13
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Thornton had married three times in his life. At the time of his death, he was married to Mary
Woodson Scott, who was the widow of James Scott and daughter of Wade and Mary Harris
Woodson.** Aninventory of Thornton’ spersonal estatewas recorded in Cumberland County records
and was divided between his holdings at his Southall farm and at Oak Hill. Commissioners
inventoried Thornton’s numerous slaves by name with special occupations or skills noted, and
assigned a value to each. At Southall, Thornton held 19 slaves valued at $14,050 and personal
property, including household items, farm implements, and notable livestock (i.e., mules, horses,
sheep, pigs, cattle), valued at $1,732.50. At Oak Hill, Thornton owned 61 slaves valued at $31,150
and personal property valued at $4,132.90. Thornton’ stotal personal estate on these two properties
was valued at $51,065.40.% This would have been in addition to the value of his rea estate
holdings, which just afew years earlier were valued in the federal census at $40,000. At the sale of
the estate, several farm and household itemswere purchased by Mary, Thornton’ swidow, aswell as
his two sons, Richard and John.”® No real estate or slaves were sold at this sale.

Thesaleof Thornton’ s personal property was conducted in November 1856, however, in June 1856,
about a month after the death of her husband, Mary Thornton conveyed to her sons—Richard, who
was living in Buckingham County, and John, who was living in Farmville—her interest in
Thornton’ sreal estate (estimated at 3,400 acres) including Oak Hill “onwhich William M. Thornton
resided,” atract called Brown’s [from Spencer Brown], the Southall tract, one called Newington,
and one small tract “on which Fleming Cayce now resides,” and ahouselot in the City of Richmond
on 14" Street, as well as al her interest in the slaves that Thornton owned in the counties of
Cumberland and Prince Edward and the cities of Richmond and Manchester. According to this
deed, the total number of slaves owned by Thornton was 96 “ or thereabouts.” Thetwo sonswereto
provide paymentsto their mother twice ayear for atotal of $1,200.%* Anthony Thornton, who with
his wife Mary had moved to New York City, also conveyed his interests in the property to his
brothers.”® The 1860 census recorded Richard Thornton as a 33 year old farmer with real estate
valued at $43,200 and a personal estate valued at $111,417. Also listed in the household are
Richard' s 30 year old wife, Maria, and their three children (William, Nannie, and John), aswell as
Mary Woodson Thornton. This may indicate that the family was living at Oak Hill at the time.?®

By 1875, both Mary and Richard Thornton had died and Oak Hill became embroiled in achancery
case brought against the Thornton estate by creditors. The November 1875 term of the Circuit Court
of Cumberland assigned special commissioners John R. Wilson and W.J. Dance, to sell Oak Hill at
public auction. In September 1876, John A. Booker was the high bidder on the property and for
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$2,760 was awarded the property (estimated at 1,280 acres). Out of his purchase, Booker conveyed
280 acresto William N. Ayers.”’

Booker placed the remainder of the property in a deed of trust, which was defaulted upon and
resulted in the property once again being sold at public auction. AtthesaleheldinJuly 1884, Emma
Booker became the purchaser with ahigh bid of $3,365. Booker, however, could not complete the
terms of the sale and in 1891, the property was sold to M.M. Blacker, who lived in Amelia County.
In 1897, Blacker sold the property to Jefferson Davis of Buckingham County. In subsequent years, a
400-acre parcel known as Lower Oak Hill was portioned off from Thornton’'s larger Oak Hill
property.®

Through a private sale with Jefferson Davis (not recorded in Cumberland County records) Eugene
Davisand hiswife, Alice, became ownersof the Oak Hill parcel and in 1906 conveyed “upper” Oak
Hill, with the frame mansion, to J.B. Garvin, who placed the property in adeed of trust, which was
subsequently defaulted upon. The property was conveyed through deed to W.N. Armidon. Armidon
held the land until 1915, when the 1000-acre parcel of Oak Hill was conveyed to J.B. Flippen who
quickly soldtheland to E.A. Germaine, formerly of Kinston, Ontario. Germaine retained ownership
of the property until 1929 when he sold it to O.G. Flippen, who in 1936 sold the property to the
United States government as Tract 1 of the Cumberland Project, LA-VA-4. The Oak Hill tract
contained 464.3 acres.”

During the 1930s, the federal government began purchasing tracts of land in Cumberland County
and acquiring others by condemnation decrees. These acquisitions were completed under the
Bankhead-Jones Tenant Farm Act, which sought to devel op aprogram of land conservationin rural
parts of the country and to correct such things as soil erosion through reforestation, and preservation
of natural resources. After acquisition, the land of the “Cumberland Project” was improved and
reforested by workersin the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) who operated from acamp located
near Cumberland Courthouse.®® The CCC was afederal program established in 1933 that provided
jobs to thousands of unemployed men, ages 17 to 25, focused on reforestation and conservation
projects on a national scale. These men worked in forests and parks on land and water projects
aimed at the preservation and recreational use of the country’ snatural resources. Inthe Cumberland
State Forest area, these workers helped to install culverts and build damsto create |akes including
Winston Lake now in the state forest.**

In 1939, the land was leased by the federal government to the Virginia Conservation Commission
and in 1954, al the land acquired as “Cumberland Project, LA-VA-4" was deeded to the
Commonwealth
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of Virginia, Department of Conservation and Economic Development. This land became the
nucleus of the Cumberland State Forest. Beginning in the 1950s, the property known as Trenton
was used as the state forestry headquarters and as aresidence for the Superintendent of the forests.
Oak Hill was used as housing for state employeesincluding forestry employees and Department of
Game and Inland Fisheries employees working in the forest. Later, the house was rented to
employees of other state agencies.® At present, the houseis occupied by a state forest employee.

Acquisition of interior or adjacent tracts has added to the total acreage in the forest, which is
presently over 16,000 acres. All state forests are managed by the Virginia Department of Forestry
(VDOF) for multiple-use purposes, including watershed protection, recreation, timber production,
hunting, fishing, and applied forest research. The state forests are self-supporting (no taxesare used
to operate the system). In addition, one-fourth of all income is returned to Cumberland County.
Income is received from the sale of forest products and hunting stamp sales.*

In 1993, the land in the Cumberland State Forest, originaly held by the Virginia Department of
Conservation and Recreation (formerly the Department of Conservation and Economic Devel opment
and the Department of Conservation and Historic Resources), wastransferred to the Department of
Forestry excluding a tract located northeast of Trenton, which in 1962 became Bear Creek Lake
State Park.® Today, Cumberland State Forest contains 16,222 acreswithin the piedmont of Virginia
and liesin both Cumberland and Buckingham counties. Cumberland State Forest isone of eighteen
state forests operated by the Department of Forestry. Since their inception, the state forests have
been charged with managing the forest land to ensure a sustained yield of timber for the operation
and maintenance of the resources and stability of thelocal economy while at the sametimefulfilling
multiple benefits, such as timber management, recreation, aesthetics, wildlife, natural reservesand
water quality. Special management areas provide demonstration and research areas for the
promotion of good forestry practices and observation of applied research.® Cooperative agreements
with other state agencies have been atrait of state forest operations sincethelate 1930s. Prior tothe
designation of wildlife areas, the Department of Game and Inland Fisheries assisted in the game
management activities of the forest. Game propagation also was part of an early agreement and
involved approximately 20 acres of the Cumberland State Forest for wild turkey propagation and a
subseqSléent quail program. This area, located at the northern end of the forest, operated into the
1970s.

Architectural Context

Oak Hill is agood example of Federal style architecture constructed in rural Cumberland County
during the first part of the nineteenth century. Earlier surveys have noted that Oak Hill is agood
Section _8 Page 16
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example of the“ once preval ent Federal -period I-house and retains much of itsoriginal material.”>’

The house is also significant for representing the tastes of the planter class in Cumberland during
this period since William M. Thornton, the builder of Oak Hill, was a wealthy farmer who owned
thousands of acres of land and nearly 100 slaves at his death. Oak Hill is significant as a good
example of aspecific plan type, for its early date of construction, and for itsintact interior Federal
detailing including mantles and door and windows surrounds. Given that the land around Oak Hill
remained in agricultural useinto the twentieth century and remained in the Thornton family through
the nineteenth century, very few alterations have been made to the building. The most notable
alteration to the property, the installation of aluminum siding, occurred in the very late twentieth
century.

William Thornton was widely known as a successful farmer who moved to Cumberland County
from Hanover County. Agriculture was the predominant economic pursuit of Cumberland County
residents during the nineteenth century with tobacco as the main cash crop. Corn and wheat were
raised for local consumption and this production gave riseto numerouslocal mills. After the Civil
War, the production of tobacco began to decrease, while corn and wheat continued to increase.®
While no longer extant, it is assumed that Oak Hill would have included numerous agricultural-
related outbuildingsincluding tobacco barns, hay barns, and corn cribs, aswell as quartersfor daves
who would have worked thefarm and fieldsfor Thornton. Two late nineteenth-century outbuildings
are extant and indicate that the land was still in cultivation at that time and reflect the types of crops
being raised (corn and tobacco).

No archaeol ogical investigation has been undertaken at the property; however, it seemslikely that
intact historical deposits may be found within the vicinity of the house. In 1993, the Virginia
Department of Historic Resources completed a report on known cultural resources within the
Cumberland State Forest. One Archaic period site and two sites related to canal locks constructed
along the WillisRiver werelisted among the recorded resources. Thereport stated that the potential
for prehistoric siteswas highest along the major drainages and that larger Native American campsor
villages might be found along the Willis River, while smaller drainages, such as Bear Creek might
hold deposits from smaller, seasonal camps.® At present, no systematic investigation of
archaeol ogical resources has been completed for Cumberland State Forest. Should archaeological
survey be undertaken within the National Register property boundaries or within the historical
boundaries of the Oak Hill tract and archaeological sites are located that contain intact, dateable
deposits, these sites should be considered potentially eligible for the National Register under
Criterion D as contributing
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components to the property as they may contain information important to one of the associated
historic contexts.
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10. Geographical Data

UTM References
Hill Crest Quadrangle

Zone 17
Point Easting Northing
1 737330 4152953
2 737579 4153080
3 737670 4152963
4 737660 4152872
5 737365 4152760
6 737329 4152821
7 737360 4152640

Verbal Boundary Description
The boundaries for this property correspond to the polygon as marked on the enclosed USGS
Quadrangle (Hill Crest) following the above referenced UTM points.

Boundary Justification

The boundary follows the tree and fence lines where possible to encompass the areaimmediately
surrounding the historic dwelling, the old roadbed toward the cemetery site, the cemetery site,
and the area containing the tobacco/hay barn and granary building.
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PHOTOGRAPHIC DOCUMENTATION
All photographs are of:
OAK HILL
Cumberland County, Virginia
VDHR File Number 024-0871
Date of Photographs. March 2005
Debra A. McClane, photographer

All negatives (22091 and 22902) are stored with the Virginia Department of Historic Resources.

VIEW: View of entrance into property from driveway. View looking W.
NEG. NO.: 22901
PHOTO 1 of 23

VIEW: View looking SW at front of dwelling.
NEG. NO.: 22901
PHOTO 2 of 23

VIEW: Detail of front door, view to W.
NEG. NO.: 22901
PHOTO 3 of 23

VIEW: View looking NE at rear €ll.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 4 of 23

VIEW: South end chimney. View looking NW.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 5 of 23

VIEW: North end chimney. View looking SE. Note entrance to basement on right side of chimney.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 6 of 23

VIEW: Frame garage located behind dwelling. View to NW.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 7 of 23

VIEW: Bank barn located behind garage. View looking SW.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 8 of 23
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VIEW: Tobacco/hay barn, view looking E.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 9 of 23

VIEW: Granary building, view looking NE.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 10 of 23

VIEW: View of cemetery, view looking W. Tombstone with curved shouldersisthat of Charles Irving Thornton.
NEG. No.: 22901
PHOTO 11 of 23

VIEW: Interior, view looking E through center passage.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 12 of 23

VIEW: View of staircase, looking W.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 13 of 23

VIEW: Detail of staircase decoration. View to S.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 14 of 23

VIEW: First floor parlor, located north off of passage. View looking N/NE.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 15 of 23

VIEW: Detail of mantlein parlor. View looking N.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 16 of 23

VIEW: View of first floor chamber, looking SE.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 17 of 23

VIEW: View of kitchen located in rear ell. View to NW.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 18 of 23

VIEW: Detail of stair landing, newel post, and pendant. View looking NW.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 19 of 23
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VIEW: View of second story hall from stair landing. View to E.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 20 of 23

VIEW: Second floor, north side bedroom. View looking NW.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 21 of 23

VIEW: Detail of mantlein second floor, north side bedroom. View to N.

NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 22 of 23

VIEW: Second floor, south side bedroom. View to SW.
NEG. No.: 22902
PHOTO 23 of 23








